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Richard Claman, an attorney admitted to practice before the 

Courts of this State, under the penalties of perjury, affirms:  

1. I am a principal of Stempel Bennett Claman & Hochberg, 

P.C., attorneys for J.B. Kaufman Realty Co., LLC (“Prior Owner”) 

and 43-01 22nd Street Owner LLC (“Current Owner”) (collectively, 

“Defendants” or “Landlord”), as prior and current owner of the 

commercial building known as 43-01 22nd Street, Long Island City, 

New York (the “Building”); and I am familiar with the matters 

relevant here, having, inter alia, argued Defendants’ appeal 

before the Second Department on October 7, 2019, leading to the 

UNANIMOUS Decision and Order of that Court dated March 11, 2020 

(the “Decision,” 181 A.D.3d 740).1  

 
1  The Second Department, by Decision and Order on Motion 

dated September 16, 2020 (M 273016), denied reargument and 
leave to appeal.   
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2. This affirmation is respectfully submitted in 

opposition to the motion by Mr. Juvenal Reis, d/b/a Reis Studios 

-- who has been engaged in the business of subleasing space in 

the Building (“Reis” or “Plaintiff”) -- for leave to appeal to 

this Court from that Decision.  

A. INTRODUCTION 

3. As reviewed herein, and as had been set forth in our 

initial and reply appellate briefs to the Second Department 

(“Init.Br.” and “ReplyBr.,” respectively), this case concerns a 

straightforward application of the “Martin Delicatessen” 

decision2 to the ‘lease extension’ language at issue here, on its 

face.   

4. In short, there is a central ‘hole’ in Plaintiff’s 

claim to hold an ongoing lease extension through 2030 -- viz., 

the absence of a definite agreement between the parties as to 

the rent amount to be paid during the alleged extension period 

of March 1, 2016 (-- i.e., after the one-year-only extension 

agreed-to in certain emails in November 2014 - February 2015; 

see R.54-56 and Exh. 1 hereto) through February 28, 2030.  

5. Before the Second Department, Plaintiff advanced a 

 
2  Joseph Martin, Jr. Delicatessen, Inc. v. Schumacher, 52 

N.Y.2d 105 (1981), reversing 70 A.D.2d 1 (2d Dep’t 1979), 
which had reversed 1978 WL 403147 (Sup. Ct. Suffolk Co.).   
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variety of theories in an attempt to distract attention from 

that ‘hole’: but the Second Department was not distracted, and 

concluded that an essential term of the ‘renewal agreement’ was 

missing, for no rent was established, nor was there any 

agreement upon an “objective” means for fixing that seat (slip 

op. at 2).  

6. The moving affirmation of Thomas Lambert, Esq. 

(“Lambert affirm”), now principally relies upon yet another 

theory for trying to side-step Martin Delicatessen -- and as 

reviewed herein, that theory is different from what Plaintiff 

argued to the Second Department.3  Plaintiff now asserts that 

 
3  As further reviewed infra, ¶ 35 Plaintiff’s argument to the 

Second Department had two steps, viz., (i) that the phrase 
‘to be determined” must be construed to mean – ‘to be 
determined unilaterally by the landlord’; and (ii) landlord 
supposedly made such a determination, applicable for 14 
more years, when it billed Plaintiff during the one-year-
only agreed-upon extension period of March 1, 2015 – 
February 29, 2016.  Plaintiff’s argument in respect of this 
‘first-step’ reappears now as part of its second reason why 
it thinks leave to appeal is warranted; and its argument as 
to the ‘second-step’ reappears now in its supposed ‘third 
reason’ for seeking leave to appeal; see infra). 

 As we showed below, however, both steps in Plaintiff’s 
argument to the Second Department were mistaken. In short: 
(i) the phrase “to be determined” calls for a future mutual 
agreement, and not unilateral determination; and (ii) the 
rate billed and paid during the one-year-only agreed-upon 
extension (from March 1, 2015 – February 29, 2016) say 
nothing about the rent rate for the following 14 
years -- as to which Plaintiff himself, in a February 20, 
2015 email, conceded that there was no agreement. See 
further infra.   
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where parties have agreed to the maximum amount that could be 

charged in future, then, in the words of Lambert Affirm. ¶ 35, 

“the definiteness requirement is met where the landlord is 

obligated to set the [rent-increase] rate, at least at one end 

[i.e., the maximum end] of a spectrum.”4   

7. [To be sure, Lambert affirm. ¶ 33 tries to hide the 

novelty of his new theory (relative to what Plaintiff actually 

argued to the Second Department) by asserting (but without 

citation to, and without quotation from, the Decision) that the 

Second Department expressly rejected this new theory5. But the 

Second Department did not do so expressly, although it surely 

did so implicitly, as reviewed herein.]  

8. As further shown herein, however, this new theory does 

not warrant review by this Court, for (at least) two reasons.  

9. First: ‘leave to appeal’ is not, we submit, intended 

to provide an opportunity for a party that has lost in the 

 
4  See likewise Plaintiff’s first ‘question presented’ 

(asserting that an agreement should be deemed sufficiently 
definite if “the tenant is willing to renew at the highest 
end of the range”); Lambert affirm. ¶ 3 (asserting that 
Plaintiff should have been held entitled to “definitely get 
renewal if it accepts the [maximum] end point of the 
range”); id. ¶ 9 (arguing that an agreement must be deemed 
definite “at least at one end of a spectrum”).  

5  Lambert affirm. ¶ 33 thus asserts (-- his italics) that 
“The Appellate Division below has held that Landlord is not 
obligated to renew even at 8%.” 
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Appellate Division to change its position; and  

10. Second, and in any event, this Court already held, in 

one of the foundational decisions underlying Martin 

Delicatessen,6 that an agreement on a maximum price does not 

constitute a sufficiently definitive agreement on price.  Thus 

in United Press v. New York Press Co., 164 N.Y. 406 (1900), the 

parties, in 1892, had entered into an 8-year agreement for a 

news service, per which defendant agreed to pay plaintiff 

“‘therefor a sum not exceeding three hundred dollars during each 

and every week’” (at 408).  After one-and-a-half years, however, 

defendant notified plaintiff to cease delivery of its news 

reports (at 409).  This Court held that even though there was “a 

figure stated as the limit which the price to be paid each week 

must not exceed[,] [t]here is thus no rate of compensation nor 

price fixed” (at 411).7  

11. As noted in our Init.Br. at 40-42, the Courts faced 

with the question have, accordingly, consistently held that 

 
6  See, e.g., Dolan, Rasch’s New York Law and Practice of Real 

Property (2d ed.) § 21:8 (citing both United Press and 
Martin Delicatessen.  

7  In the present case, Plaintiff sought in effect a 
declaration that would have granted it specific performance 
of an indefinite agreement, so that United Press applies a 
fortiori.  See Martin Declaration, 52 N.Y.2d at 110 (“the 
rule applies all the more, and not the less, when, as here, 
the extraordinary remedy of specific performance is 
sought”). 
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‘agreement’ upon a price range would not constitute a 

sufficiently definite agreement on price, for purposes of Martin 

Delicatessen.  

12. Indeed, the Lambert affirm. now admits that Plaintiff 

is seeking to change the established law, by “expansion” (¶ 7), 

and/or reliance upon a novel “hybrid” (¶ 5) approach.8 [See also 

Lambert affirm. ¶ 15, asserting that this Court should create a 

novel “third way” by which a plaintiff can establish 

definiteness, relative to Martin Delicatessen and In re 166 

Mamaroneck,9 see infra.]  

13. As this Court has repeatedly held, however: 

particularly in the context of commercial real estate matters, 

parties should be entitled to bargain in the context of, and 

against a background of, established rules; see, e.g., Holy 

Properties Ltd., L.P. v. Kenneth Cole Productions, Inc., 987 

N.Y.2d 130, 134 (1995). See also Martin Delicatessen, 52 N.Y.2d 

at 111 (“Stability is a hallmark of the law controlling” real 

estate agreements, including leases).   

14. And Plaintiff does not suggest any reason why this 

Court should now change a 100-year-old foundational principle, 
 

8  All emphasis in material quoted herein is added, unless 
otherwise noted.  

9  In re 166 Mamaroneck Ave. Corp. v. 151 East Post Road 
Corp., 78 N.Y.2d 8 (1991).  
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as consistently implemented in the subsequent case-law of this 

Court and of the Appellate Division.  

15. As for the other ‘reasons’ advanced in the Lambert 

Affirm. As warranting review by this Court, they rest, as will 

be reviewed herein, on either (i) purporting to re-write the 

words of the documents at issue; and/or (ii) purporting to re-

write the chronology of the relevant events.    

16. Plainly, however, such efforts, already rejected by 

the Second Department, do not warrant further review by this 

Court. 

17. Accordingly, it is respectfully submitted that 

Plaintiff’s motion should in all respects be denied.  

*        *        * 

18. Since our articulation of the foregoing points depends 

on the record below -- and insofar as Plaintiff’s contentions 

are largely efforts to re-write the factual and procedural 

record as shown in the Record on Appeal to the Second 

Department, the next section of this affirmation will review 

that factual and procedural record. (This review will also show, 

as a general matter, that the attempt in Lambert affirm. ¶¶ 20-

33 to ‘anticipate’ our present analysis is also misguided.)  

19. We will then re-visit each of the four ‘questions’ 

that Plaintiff proposes now for review by this Court, to show 
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that none warrants review relative to the criteria set forth in 

Court Rules 500.22(b)(4).10  

THE PROCEDURAL AND RECORD FACTS 

20. To put Plaintiff’s present arguments into perspective, 

we review briefly (a) the key uncontroverted facts of this 

matter, as shown in the ‘Record,’ and (b) the prior proceedings 

herein. (References herein to “R.__” are to the Record on 

Appeal. References to “OppBr” are to Plaintiff’s opposition 

brief to the Second Department.) 

(I) The Parties  

21. Prior Owner is a family business, whose principal, at 

the times relevant here, was Roger Kaufman (see, e.g., R.839-

843). [In an attempt to avoid any question from Plaintiff in 

this regard, we had included the full transcript of Plaintiff’s 

Plaintiff’s deposition of Mr. Kaufman in our summary judgment 
 

10  We understand that there are no hard-and-fast rules in 
respect of this Court granting or denying leave to appeal.  
But the general principle, to our understanding, is that 
disputes turning on the particular language of individual 
contracts, and/or on other individual features of a case, 
do not warrant leave to appeal.  See generally N.Y.Jur.2d 
Appellate Review §§ 293-294. 

And a fortiori, purported ‘questions’ that simply do not 
correspond to the issues that had been presented to the 
Appellate Division, and/or that rest upon ‘facts’ that 
otherwise diverge from the Record, do not warrant further 
consideration.  
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motion, and hence in the Record (R. 834-953) -- but as we 

repeatedly have explained (see infra), neither Mr. Kaufman’s 

subjective intent, nor Mr. Reis’s, is relevant here.]11   

22. The subject building, located on 22nd Street, between 

43rd and 44th Avenues, in Long Island City, is a six-story 

commercial building, offering approximately 222,000 sq. ft. of 

commercial space, first constructed in 1925, and subsequently 

renovated by Current Owner -- a privately-owned real estate 

company that acquired the Building in 2016 (see R.12, ¶ 1).  As 

will be noted infra, as of the last of the letter agreements 

made between the parties expanding Reis’s space, i.e., the ‘June 

2012 Letter Agreement’ (see infra), Reis leased approximately 

43% of the Building, for his studio-subletting business.  

23. As explained in his own deposition testimony, Juvenal 

Reis -- who holds, inter alia, a Master’s degree in hotel 

 
11  The Lambert affirm. (e.g., in ¶ 3 fn. 3 and ¶ 8) again 

repeatedly notes that the Record does not also include any 
further affidavit from Mr. Kaufman.  The reason is simple: 
as further reviewed (again) herein, this case simply does 
not turn on the subjective view of either Mr. Reis or of 
Mr. Kaufman, but rather on the dispositive documentary 
facts here concerning, in particular, the absence, from the 
‘extension’ clause of the ‘June 2012 Letter Agreement,’ of 
any definite rent amount; see infra.   

 We included the complete transcript of Roger Kaufman’s 
deposition, however, precisely so that Plaintiff should not 
be able to allege that we had sought to hide anything -- in 
contrast to Plaintiff’s conduct here (see Init.Br. 34-35).  
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management from Florida International University, as well as 

marketing/management degrees earned in Brazil and Switzerland, 

and a Masters of Fine Arts from Southern Methodist University, 

(R.90-92) -- conceived the idea of renting space in the 

Building, and then sub-letting portions thereof for use as 

artist studio space, to (over the years) hundreds of different 

subtenants (R.99, 337). [Reis finally produced various of those 

subleases after prolonged resistance on his part; see 

Init.Br.35.  The reason for Reis’s reluctance was immediately 

apparent: as noted infra, those subleases confirm that Reis 

plainly knew how to draft lease clauses that refer to ‘formula’ 

concepts such as “fair market value” (R.966-967, ¶ 3), and 

“current market price” (R.971, ¶ 22); but no such formulas were 

included in the critical ‘extension’ sentence here; see infra 

and Init.Br. 5 fn. 9.]  

(II) The Lease   

24. In 2002, Prior Owner and Reis entered into their first 

lease agreement -- starting with the so-called “REBNY” form 

lease, plus ‘riders’ and other modifications (R.57-69). 

25. During the period 2002-2007, Prior Owner and Reis then 

entered into a sequence of short expansion/extension letter 

agreements (R.70-79).  At that point, Reis was renting eight 

different spaces, located in various portions of the 2nd, 3rd, 
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4th, 5th and 6th Floors, totaling around 39% of the Building’s 

rentable area.  

These different expansion/extension agreements provided 

that Reis’s term of possession for all of the demised premises 

would end on a single end-date -- February 28, 2015. (See, e.g., 

R.75, R.80).  

26. The focus of this litigation is the so-called ‘June 

2012 Letter Agreement’ (R.80-81), and the prior (signed) ‘draft’ 

thereof, made earlier that same date (R.78-79). 

27. That first ‘draft’ (R.78-79) added (relative to the 

previous 2007 letter agreement; R.77) a ninth space, likewise 

for a term of possession to expire on February 28, 2015. 

28. And then, on that same day in June 2012 -- according 

to, inter alia, Reis’s own affidavit in opposition to 

Defendants’ summary judgment motion (R.985, ¶ 22) -- Reis asked 

Roger Kaufman to also add to that ‘draft’ another sentence, on 

the subject of an ‘extension’; and after Kaufman did so, that 

agreement was also executed.   

29. That ‘extension’ sentence (the “T-B-D Sentence”) 

states:    

Lease terms to be extended to now terminate 
on February 28, 2030; terms to be determined 
at the expiration of this initial lease 
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consolidation period [i.e., which ‘period’ 
would expire as of February 28, 2015].     

30. [As we already noted (e.g., Init.Br. 17-18 fn. 20; 39-

40 fn. 45; and 49 fn. 56), any question as to the thinking of 

either Mr. Reis or Mr. Kaufman in including this T-B-D Sentence 

is irrelevant here, per Martin Delicatessen.  Likewise, 

Defendants’ ‘motive’ for insisting that the T-B-D Sentence is 

unenforceably indefinite is also irrelevant; see ReplyBr. 25-

26.] 

31. In his Opp.Br., Reis argued that this T-B-D Sentence, 

as thus added in June 2012, should be deemed to incorporate-by-

reference a ‘range’ statement that had already been included as 

part of a separate (-- but otherwise irrelevant)12 ‘option’ 

provision already included in the parties’ agreements, first 

appearing in 2006 (R.75; see also R.76 and R.77).  That 

provision gave Plaintiff an option to renew “at expiration” of 

the agreed-upon lease term, to be exercised by “written 

notification” to be given one year in advance, with  

Terms and length to be determined at that 
time.  Any percentage increase will not be 
less than 5% annually and not to exceed a 
maximum cap of 8% annually.  

 
12  See, e.g., Opp.Br. 11 fn. 7 (noting how that option was 

“separate”). 
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(We have referred to this last sentence as the “Range 

Provision”). 

32. We had argued (see, e.g., Init.Br. 2-3, fn. 4; and 18-

19) that, as a preliminary matter, this Range Provision should 

not be read-into the T-B-D Sentence.  In the Decision, however, 

the Second Department -- perhaps to make the point that Reis’s 

ultimate argument failed even if the Range Provision were to be 

deemed incorporated into the T-B-D Sentence -- treated the Range 

Provision as so incorporated. (If this dispute were to proceed 

any further, we would, however, respectfully reserve our 

argument, as an ‘alternative’ basis for upholding the Decision, 

that the Range Provision should not be ‘incorporated’ into the 

T-B-D Sentence.)  

33. In any event, however: there is no dispute but that 

Plaintiff never exercised its separate ‘option’ right.  See, 

e.g., Opp.Br. at 32: “The case at bar does not concern an 

‘option.’”  

(III) Plaintiff’s Contention That He Held A Binding 15-Year 
extension 

34. Rather, Reis’s claim herein is only that the T-B-D 

Sentence itself, as set forth in the June 2012 Letter Agreement 

(and incorporating the Range Provision), established a binding 

agreement for an extension term that would not expire until the 

end of February 2030.  
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35. In particular, Reis contended to the Second 

Department: 

a. that the phrase “to be determined” must be understood 

to mean -- to be determined “unilaterally” by Landlord (Opp.Br. 

36; see also, e.g., Opp.Br. 1113; at 21 [“Prior Landlord was to 

set the precise amount of the annual rent increase for the 

extended term”]; and at 32 [“which was to be set by Prior 

Landlord”]; and  

b. that Landlord supposedly in fact ‘determined” the 

rent-increase rate for each of the fourteen years after February 

29, 2016, when Landlord billed, and Reis paid, a rate of less 

than 8% per the one-year-only agreement that the parties reached 

for March 1, 2015 – February 29, 2016, as described in the next 

paragraphs. (E.g., Opp.Br. 33-34.14)  

 
13  Thus Opp.Br.at 11 asserted:  

The phrase “terms to be determined at the end of 
this initial lease consolidation period” meant 
that on or about February 28, 2015 Prior Landlord 
would set the rate of increase, which would be 
between 5% and 8%. R987-980. * * * As Tenant explained 
at his deposition, “terms to be determined [means] to 
be determined by him, not by me …. To be determined, 
to be determined by you, not negotiated.  If he had 
said terms to be negotiated, that’s something else.  

14  Thus Opp.Br. 33-34 assertion:  

As shown above, after the 2012 Letter Agreement was 
made the parties performed in a manner which shows 

         [footnote continues]  
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36. Indeed, Plaintiff was so convinced of this two-step 

theory -- which, however, its present principal argument 

contradicts -- that Plaintiff asked the Second Department to 

search the record and grant summary judgment to Plaintiff on the 

basis of this two-step theory. (Opp.Br. 33-34.)  

37. There is no dispute but that the June 2012 Letter 

Agreement was performed by both parties, from June 2012 through 

February 2015: Reis did occupy the additional space added in 

that June 2012 Letter Agreement; and Prior Owner did perform the 

referenced work to build-out that space for Reis. (See ReplyBr. 

26-27.) 

38. In late 2014, a dispute arose between Reis and 

Kaufman, as shown in the emails exchanged between them in the 

period November 2014 through February 2015 (R.54-56, Exh. 1 

hereto quoted at Init.Br. 25-26, fns. 31 and 32).  In short: 

(a) on November 15, 2014, Reis sent an email asserting that he 

and Kaufman had orally reached an agreement on the rent “for the 

coming years” [sic]; (b) by responsive email (two days later, on 

November 17, 2014), however, Kaufman denied any such long-term 

agreement, and stated that his only rent agreement was “based on 
 

that Prior Landlord sets the annual percentage 
increase of rent at 5.4%.  Prior Landlord did so by 
issuing bills in that amount commencing March 2015 and 
thereafter accepting Plaintiff’s payments inn such 
amount.  That was shown by the undisputed documentary 
evidence (the bills and checks, R1043-1059) .... 
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a single one year renewal,” “to expire February 29, 2016”; and 

(c) on February 20, 2015, Reis emailed to confirm that, while 

there was agreement for one year, the parties “were unable to 

agree” beyond that (R.54):    

while ... the fixed rent for year of March 
1st 2015 to February 29th 2016 will increase 
by 6%, we were unable to agree on the rent 
for the following years.  I am hopeful we 
can work this out.15 

39. [Lambert Affirm. ¶ 26 argues that Reis’s concession 

that “we were unable to agree on the rent for the [14 future] 

years” must now be ignored, in favor of Reis’s subjective 

belief, and Reis’s continued assertion, that despite this 

absence of agreement upon the rent rate, Reis was still entitled 

to hold a lease through February 2030.   But the fact that Reis 

is arguing that, in effect, Martin Delicatessen must be ignored, 

is not, of course, a reason to ignore Martin Delicatessen, nor 

to ignore the requirement that, for an extension agreement to be 

effective, there needs to be an agreement upon price. 

[Moreover, as we noted, Reis did not himself say, in his 

February 20 email – ‘since we cannot agree on the rents for the 

 
15  In his deposition, and in his affidavit in opposition to 

Landlord’s summary judgment motion, Reis authenticated 
these emails, and confirmed that they indeed showed an 
extension agreement for only one year; see R.350-351; see 
also his ‘opp.aff.,’ R.992-993, ¶ 11.  See also, e.g., 
ReplyBr. at 22-23. 
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following 14 years, I simply accept 8% as the maximum rent 

increase rate for each of those years.’  His own email thus 

shows, by contrast the new argument now made in the Lambert 

Affirm., that even Reis recognized that there needed to be an 

agreement for the following 14 years -- but there wasn’t.] 

40. In March 2015, following this ‘email’ one-year-only 

agreement, Prior Owner sent a rent bill to Reis (R.1044). The 

March 2015 rent bill underbilled Reis, relative to the 6% 

increase that had been agreed-upon in the November 2014 – 

February 2015 emails, by approximately $434, or 00.59%.  Reis 

did not complain at the time of this underbilling -- and indeed 

did not even refer to it in his verified Complaint (compare 

¶ 30, R.37).  As we showed below, this slight underbilling by 

Kaufman, relative to the one-year-only extension agreement 

reached in the November – February 2015 emails, simply cannot be 

deemed to constitute a binding agreement as to the rent to be 

paid for the ensuing 14 years (i.e., from March 1, 2016 through 

February 28, 2030), in the face of, inter alia, the statute of 

frauds as applicable to any lease agreement for a term of more 

than one year. (Init.Br. 29-30; 50 fn. 47; 52-55). 

(IV) Prior Proceedings 

41. In July 2015, Reis filed a complaint (R.29-41) seeking 

a declaration that he held a valid and binding lease extension 
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running through February 28, 2030.  Reis’s key allegation was 

that Landlord’s billing in March 2015 must be deemed to show an 

agreement by Landlord that the rent would increase for each and 

every year through February 2030 at a rate of 5.4%.16  In so 

alleging, Reis simply pretended, however, that the November 2014 

– February 2015 emails did not exist; and he likewise pretended 

that there had not been a one-year-only extension agreement 

underlying that March 2015 billing.  Prior Owner, in making a 

pre-answer motion to dismiss, sought to inform the Motion Court 

of Reis’s key (and misleading) ‘omission’: but under the Second 

Department’s precedents (-- at least at the time), emails were 

not ‘admissible’ as documentary evidence on a CPLR 3211(a)(1) 

motion.17  Obviously, however, for purposes of a summary judgment 

motion, following discovery, Reis’s own February 20, 2015 email, 

confirming that an agreement had been reached for one-year-

only -- but admitting that “we were unable to agree on the rent 

for the following years” (R.54) -- is decisive against Reis in 

this regard. 

 
16  See, in more detail, the affidavit of Juvenal Reis in 

opposition to Prior Owner’s motion to dismiss, NYSCEF #14, 
at ¶¶ 51-52.  

17  And of course denial of a motion to dismiss is not, 
contrary to Reis’s contention, ‘law of the case’ on a 
subsequent summary judgment motion; see ReplyBr. 23-24 fn. 25. 
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42. Defendants’ eventual summary judgment motion rested on 

a very simple point: looking at the face of the June 2012 Letter 

Agreement, there clearly was no definite agreement on the 

essential element of the rent to be paid during the ‘extension’ 

period March 2015 – February 2030; and (b) the one-year-only 

agreement reached in the 2014-2015 emails did not constitute an 

agreement for the ensuing 14 years.  Hence, under Martin 

Delicatessen, Reis’s claim to hold an enforceable lease 

extension through February 2030 was without basis; and his lease 

thus expired on February 29, 2016.  

43. Reis, in opposition to Landlord’s summary judgment 

motion, advanced multiple arguments -- each of which we 

carefully refuted (as shown in the Init.Br. and Reply Br.).  In 

particular, and as relevant here (-- for the Lambert Affirm. now 

makes no reference to several of Plaintiff’s other previous 

theories18): Reis argued that (a) he believed that the phrase “to 

be determined,” in the T-B-D Sentence, meant ‘to be determined 

unilaterally by Landlord’ -- so that a ‘methodology’ did exist 

for picking a specific number within the 5%-8% Range Provision 

 
18  There is, to be sure, an oblique reference to one such 

other theory, in Lambert Affirm. ¶ 18 fn. 6 -- namely, that 
in a certain without-prejudice ‘interim payment 
stipulation’ made in March 2016 (R.1060-1061), Landlord 
supposedly conceded the entire case here.  See however 
Init.Br. 31-34, 55-56; and Reply Br. 18-21, utterly 
refuting Plaintiff’s misreading of that stipulation. 
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(e.g., ReplyBr. 2 fn. 6, citing to Plaintiff’s Opp.Br.; and 

supra ¶ 35); and (b) Landlord must thereupon be deemed to have 

‘picked’ its number, for all 15 renewal-period years, when 

Landlord issued its March 2015 invoice, showing (due to the 

slight underbilling) a 5.4% increase (e.g., Opp.Br. at 26-27, 

reviewed in ReplyBr. 21-22; see also the variant at Opp.Br. 3, 

37, refuted at ReplyBr. 24-25; and see ¶ 35, supra).  

44. In reply to these two points, we showed that 

(a) Reis’s alleged subjective intent was in any event 

irrelevant, for Martin Delicatessen establishes an objective 

test (see, e.g., Init.Br. 39-40, fn. 45); and the parties 

clearly knew how to say that a particular determination would be 

made unilaterally by Landlord, if that had been their 

agreement -- for the Lease so provided in a different context, 

but plainly, objectively, did not so provide here;19 and (b) the 

5.4% increase reflected in the March 2015 billing plainly 

related only to the parties’ one-year-only extension agreement 

as reached in the November 2014 – February 2015 email exchange, 

and could not, as a matter of law, in the face of the statute of 

frauds, constitute a sufficient memorialization of a binding 

‘agreement’ for an additional 14 subsequent years (Init.Br.52-

 
19   We pointed (Init.Br. 6 fn. 11), by contrast, to Lease ¶ 47 

(R.63), where Plaintiff was obligated to provide 
extermination services “to the satisfaction of Landlord.”  
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55; ReplyBr. 21-25).  

45. Notwithstanding our showing, the Motion Court denied 

our summary judgment motion.  For its primary basis, the Motion 

Court stated that, in that Court’s view, the question whether 

the phrase “to be determined” could be read, in accordance with 

Reis’s supposed subjective intent, to mean ‘to be determined 

unilaterally by landlord,’ constituted an “issue of fact” (R.8-

9).  As we demonstrated on appeal, however (see, e.g., Init.Br. 

3-5; see also ReplyBr. 2-4), this was a plain error by the 

Motion Court, for (a) the issue of whether an extension clause 

is or is not sufficiently definite is an ‘issue of law’ under 

Martin Delicatessen; and (b) the subjective intent of one party 

is simply not a basis for the Court to write-in additional words 

(see, e.g., Init.Br. 46-50). 

46. The Motion Court also speculated that the 5.4% March 

2015 underbilling might represent some yet additional and 

separate agreement, somehow “supersed[ing]” (R.8) the one-year-

only email agreement reached in November 2014 – February 

2015 -- so that, according to the Motion Court, there was an 

“issue of fact” in this regard as well.  But such speculation, 

of course, made no sense, since the material terms of any such 

supposed “supersed[ing]” agreement would need to have been duly 

memorialized in a writing that stated its material terms, in 

order to comply with the statute of frauds -- but obviously, 
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neither the Motion Court nor Reis could point to any document 

corresponding to the Motion Court’s speculation concerning such 

a “supersed[ing]” agreement (see Init.Br. 10-12, 52-55; ReplyBr. 

24-25).  

47. In sum, we showed, in our appellate briefs, that 

(a) there was a fundamental ‘hole’ in Reis’s claim of a binding 

lease extension through February 2030, in that the ‘extension 

clause’ of the June 2012 Letter Agreement, i.e., the T-B-D 

Sentence, was on its face, as an objective matter, indefinite 

under Martin Delicatessen; and (b) all of Plaintiff’s various 

efforts (and those of the Motion Court) to try to cover-over 

that fundamental flaw were ultimately insufficient, as a matter 

of law, in the face of the documentary record.  

48. And the Second Department, after an extensive and 

searching oral argument (on October 7, 2019), held for 

Defendants, recognizing the fundamental point that the T-B-D 

Sentence in the June 2012 Letter Agreement did not constitute a 

sufficiently definite extension agreement so as to ‘support’ a 

14-year extension.  

LEAVE TO APPEAL SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. Reis’s Argument For A Change In The Established Law 
Does Not Warrant Review                              

49. To review: in our Init.Br. (at 40-42), we cited to the 

consistent case-law for the point that (as stated by the First 
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Department in 1945) a contract’s statement of “a range within 

minimum and maximum figures ... does not meet the test of 

definiteness.”20  

50. Plaintiff’s Opp.Br. essentially conceded this point: 

for Plaintiff itself noted that, in addition to a ‘range,’ there 

also needed to be “an objective method for setting rent within a 

limited range.” (Opp.Br. 26; see also our further discussion in 

ReplyBr. 13-15).   

51. Lambert Affirm. ¶ 5 recognizes that In re 166 

Mamaroneck provided for two ways of achieving the requisite 

objective definiteness.  Under In re 166 Mamaroneck, there needs 

to be either (a) the specification in the writing of an 

objective procedure, such as arbitration, or (b) there needs to 

be the specification in the writing of an “extrinsic ... 

formula,” e.g., ‘fair market value.’ (See also Init.Br. 38 fn. 

44.) 

52. But the June 2012 Letter Agreement does not provide 

for either of these two methods -- notwithstanding that, as 

noted above (¶ 23), Reis himself employed the standards of “fair 

market value” and “current market price” in his subleases 

(R.966-967, ¶ 3; R.971, ¶ 22; see Init.Br. at 5 fn. 9.)  See 

 
20  Belasco Theatre Corp. v. Jelin Productions, 270 A.D. 202, 

205 (1st Dep’t 1945).  
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already Init.Br. 38 fn. 44, explaining that, accordingly, In re 

166 Mamaroneck did not help Plaintiff here.  

53. The Lambert Affirm. (e.g., ¶ 5 and ¶ 7), now admits 

that Plaintiff indeed cannot rely on either ‘prong’ of In re 166 

Mamaroneck. And so Plaintiff is, instead, now arguing for (what 

Lambert now calls) a “hybrid” theory (¶ 5); and Lambert Affirm. 

¶ 7 effectively concedes that such a “hybrid” theory would 

indeed constitute (in his words) an “expansion” of the existing 

law, so as to constitute a “third way” (¶ 15).  

54. Lambert Affirm. ¶ 8 still does not, however, explain 

how a Court, looking at the “range” here (i.e., between 5% and 

8%), is supposed to pick a specific number ‘in between.’  And 

Plaintiff does not dispute that the fundamental point of this 

Court’s decision in Martin Delicatessen (-- reversing the 

Appellate Division there) is that the Court will not make an 

agreement for the parties when the parties themselves could have 

made, but failed to make, a definite agreement for themselves. 

(See Init.Br. at 39 and fn. 45, reviewing how the Appellate 

Division in Martin Delicatessen indeed had proposed to change 

the law, but this Court declined to do so.)  

55.  Lambert Affirm. ¶ 3 now argues that In re 166 

Mamaroneck should be expanded to declare that the Court can make 

a ‘range’ agreement into a definite contract by declaring that 
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the “end point” least favorable to the plaintiff to be the 

contract price.  But Lambert cites no support for the idea that 

the Court should thus make a contract for the parties, when that 

the parties did not do so themselves.  (See Init.Br. 39.)  And 

as noted above, the idea that the parties’ agreement upon an 

‘upper limit’ should be deemed a definite price agreement was 

rejected already in United Press.   

56. As for the attempt in Lambert affirm. ¶¶ 5-6 to 

suggest that In re 166 Mamaroneck somehow overturned Martin 

Delicatessen: While Reis indeed previously tried to so argue 

(see Opp.Br. 24-25, pointing to the phrase “last resort” 

therein), we already refuted that attempt in our ReplyBr. (at 

15-16), citing three Appellate Division cases, and a federal 

case, all decided subsequent to In re 166 Mamaroneck, which all 

held, in effect, that In re 166 Mamaroneck did not diminish the 

force of Martin Delicatessen as relevant here.21  And of course 

 
21  In our opposition to Plaintiff’s motion to the Second 

Department for lease to appeal/reargument, we also noted 
Douglas Elliman LLC v. Firefly Entertainment Inc., 729 Fed. 
Appx. 64, 2019 WL 6271547 (2d Cir., Nov. 25, 2019), which, 
after discussing both In re 166 Mamaroneck and Martin 
Delicatessen, concluded that the writing pointed-to by that 
plaintiff was too indefinite to constitute a binding 
contract: “even if there was sufficient intent shown ..., 
it would be inappropriate to read in missing terms,” 
including the commission amount.  

 We infer, from the fact that the Second Circuit dealt with 
that dispute by way of a “summary order,” that the Second 
Circuit saw no issue in this regard that was novel, or of 

         [footnote continues]  
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the Second Department’s Decision properly cited to both Martin 

Delicatessen and In re 166 Mamaroneck.  Nor does the Lambert 

Affirm. now even attempt to present any authority contrary to 

the authorities that we previously noted in this regard.  

57. At bottom, then, the Lambert Affirm. is (again) just 

making some of the same arguments for a change in the law that 

the Appellate Division had made in its decision in the Martin 

Delicatessen case -- but which this Court, in Martin 

Delicatessen, rejected. (See Init.Br. at 39-40 and fn. 45).  

58. Accordingly, Plaintiff’s proposed ‘first question’ 

does not warrant review.  

B. The Phrase “To Be Determined” Does Not Mean ‘To Be 
Determined “Unilaterally” By Landlord’              

59. For Plaintiff’s second proposed question, Lambert 

Affirm. ¶¶ 8-10 repeats Plaintiff’s contention that the phrase 

“to be determined,” as used in the T-B-D Sentence, 

must -- because such was supposedly Plaintiff’s own subjective 

“understanding” -- be deemed to mean ‘to be determined 

“unilaterally” by the landlord.’ (Lambert Affirm. ¶ 8, quoting.) 

And Lambert Affirm. ¶ 9 then contends that Landlord must be 

 
public importance, or necessary to otherwise clarify any 
conflict in the law.    

 The various other cases cited in Plaintiff’s Opp.Br. are 
all distinguished in Defendant’s ReplyBr. 
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deemed to have acted “in bad faith” for failing to have 

unilaterally set the annual rent-rate increase at the ‘upper 

limit’ of 8%. (Id. ¶ 10). [Lambert’s present ‘second step’ 

contention thus contradicts, of course, Plaintiff’s argument to 

the Second Department that there was supposedly a determination 

by Prior Owner to fix a 5.4% rate for 15 years; see supra, ¶ 35 

and Opp.Br. at, e.g., 26, 32.]   

60. As we already explained at some length, however 

(-- focusing only on the ‘first step’ in Plaintiff’s present 

two-step argument, as just outlined): if the parties had meant 

to say, in respect of the 15-year extension period, that the 

rent was ‘to be determined unilaterally by landlord,’ they could 

of course have simply said that -- and indeed, in a different 

context in the Lease, they did agree that Landlord would control 

the decision in a particular respect (see ¶ 45, fn. 19, supra).  

But that is not what the parties said in this regard, in the 

T-B-D Sentence.  And the phrase “to be determined” clearly 

requires some further agreement by and between the parties, and 

hence is indefinite for purposes of Martin Delicatessen. (See 

Init.Br. at 42-45, and ReplyBr. 11-12, reviewing case-law in 

this regard.) In sum, the phrase used in the T-B-D Sentence, 

i.e., “to be determined [in the future],” clearly meant that 

there was no present agreement when the T-B-D Sentence was added 

in June 2012, and hence no binding agreement as to a 15-year 
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extension.  Even now Plaintiff proffers no case-law to support 

its theory that the phrase actually used in the June 2012 Letter 

Agreement must be re-written by the Court based upon Reis’s 

supposed subjective understanding thereof.22  

61. And the clear point of the 2012 requirement that the 

parties had to negotiate was to avoid a situation where the 

Landlord would unilaterally charge so much that Reis was forced 

out of business -- for that would not benefit either Landlord or 

Reis. 

62. As a variation on the foregoing, Lambert affirm. ¶ 32 

suggests that, as a matter of the implied “covenant of good 

faith,” the phrase “to be determined [in the future]” should be 

read so as to have imposed upon Landlord a good faith obligation 

to have picked 8% as the annual rent-increase rate for the 

ensuing 14 years.  As we noted previously, however (Init.Br. 

48), a plaintiff cannot rely on an implied covenant of good 

faith unless it is first shown that an enforceable contract 

exists.  See, e.g., Mocca Lounge, Inc. v. Missak, 94 A.D.2d 761, 

 
22  Lambert Affirm. ¶ 8 quotes a couple snippets of deposition 

testimony by Reis.  But Reis’s subjective “understanding,” 
even if those snippets were credible (cf. Init.Br. 21-22, 
quoting from Reis’s earlier and contrary testimony), is in 
any event legally irrelevant (Init.Br. 17-18 fn. 20; 39-40 
fn. 45, and 49 fn. 50). As explained in Init.Br. 46-50, a 
key element of the Martin Delicatessen rule is that the 
absence of definiteness is not an ambiguity, but rather 
simply a failure of definiteness.  
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763 (2d Dep’t 1983) (explaining that the implied covenant of 

good faith only applies if and when “the parties are under a 

duty to perform an obligation which is definite and certain”; 

but where the objective criteria necessary to create a 

sufficiently definite and binding agreement are just missing, 

then such “objective criteria or standards ... may not be 

implied ....”). Accord, e.g., American-European Art Associates, 

Inc. v. Trend Galleries, Inc., 227 A.D.2d 170 (1st Dep’t 1996) 

(‘implied covenant’ claim properly dismissed “for lack of a 

valid and binding contract from which such a duty would arise”).  

And see also Mandarin Trading Ltd. v. Wildenstein, 65 A.D.3d 

448, 451 (1st Dep’t 2009) (explaining that since there was no 

contract, there could not be a claim based on an implied good 

faith covenant, citing to American-European Art Assoc., supra), 

aff’d, 16 N.Y.3d 173 (2011).  

63. Accordingly, Lambert’s ‘second question’ does not 

warrant further review.  

C. The Prior Owner’s Billing In March 2015 For The 
One-Year-Only Extension Did Not Somehow Set The 
Rate For The Ensuing 14 Years                    

64. As noted above, Plaintiff did not argue to the Second 

Department that Plaintiff was willing to pay an annual increase 

at the rate of 8%: rather, Plaintiff argued that Landlord had 

set the rate, for each of 2015-2016 and the following 14 years, 

at 5.4%. And Lambert Affirm. ¶¶ 11-16 now 
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argues -- contradicting his own proposed ‘first 

question’ -- that the Second Department just misunderstood the 

facts in this latter regard.  

65. Lambert Affirm. ¶¶ 12-16 thus argues that Prior Owner 

must be deemed to have in fact set the annual rent-rate increase 

for each year in the 14-year period March 2016-February 2030 

(i.e., following the one-year-only extension that had been 

agreed-upon in the November 2014-February 2015 emails) when 

Prior Owner invoiced Plaintiff for March 2015 at a rent increase 

of approximately 5.4% above the prior year’s rent.  

66. In short, Plaintiff just pretends, however (yet 

again), to entirely ignore the point that, in the email exchange 

in November 2014 – February 2015 (reviewed supra), the parties 

agreed on a one-year-only extension of the lease term, through 

February 2016.  Indeed, as quoted above, Reis admitted, in his 

February 20, 2015 email (R.54), that “we were unable to agree on 

the rent for the following years” -- i.e., for the 14 years 

after the one-year-only extension.  

And the fact that Landlord underbilled Plaintiff by a de 

minimis amount during the term of that one-year-only extension 

likewise does not show an agreement, binding against Landlord, 

for the ensuing 14 years.  Among other things, Plaintiff’s 

theory would violate the statute of frauds, which requires that 
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any lease agreement, for more than one year, and a fortiori for 

14 more years, be memorialized in a writing that sets forth all 

the material (and definite) terms of such an extension 

agreement. (See Init.Br. 50 fn. 57, and 52-55; ReplyBr. 21-25.) 

67. Lambert Affirm. ¶ 28 now argues that we have also 

mischaracterized Reis’s own February 20 email, in a second 

respect (compare ¶ 39, supra): according to Lambert, we are 

arguing “that this 6% argument was made in lieu [sic; Lambert’s 

italics] of the renewal to 2030.”  No:  the one-year-only 

agreement was not “in lieu” of any supposed already-existing and 

already binding 15-year “renewal to 2030 [sic],” for there was 

no such binding ‘renewal”; nor did we ever argue for any sort of 

“in lieu” theory -- nor, of course, does Lambert Affirm. provide 

any support for this mischaracterization. 

68. Accordingly, Plaintiff’s reliance, again, upon a 

supposed ‘fact’ theory that simply, as reviewed herein, rests on 

a distortion of the documentary record, warrants rejection of 

Plaintiff’s present motion in reference to Plainiff’s ‘third 

question’ as well.  

D. The Second Department Did Not Somehow Overlook Any 
Facts                                               

69. Lastly, Lambert Affirm. ¶ 17 -- repeating an argument 

that he previously made to support reargument -- asserts that 

the Second Department must be deemed to have “overlooked the 
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facts” because the Motion Court supposedly had “found” (¶ 18) 

that there were two triable “issues of fact.” 

70. As noted above (in fn. 1) the Second Department 

denied, however, reargument.  And, to our understanding, this 

Court’s function is not to hear rearguments of ‘fact’ issues 

already rejected by the Appellate Division. 

71. In any event, Plaintiff’s repeated assertion that the 

Second Department overlooked a ‘finding’ by the Motion Court is 

mistaken, on multiple levels.  First, a determination by a 

motion court that there exists an issue of fact is of course not 

a finding by that court of any fact.  

72. Second, and more critically, we had carefully 

explained in our appellate briefs (see ¶¶ 45-46, supra) why the 

supposed “issues” of “fact” noted by the Motion Court were not 

indeed relevant issues of fact: rather, (a) the question whether 

the T-B-D Sentence was sufficiently definite was not (as the 

Motion Court mistakenly thought) an ‘issue of fact,’ but instead 

(under Martin Delicatessen) an issue of law, to be determined by 

looking simply at the existing words of the T-B-D Sentence, 

without the court adding more words thereto (e.g., Init.Br. 3-

4); and (b) the Motion Court’s ‘speculation’ that the March 2015 

billing might show that there might have been some subsequent 

and “supersed[ing]” agreement between the parties, i.e., even 
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after Reis’s own February 2015 email, is baseless -- for again, 

the statute of frauds should preclude any such speculative 

subsequent ‘agreement.’  

73. Accordingly, even if, Lambert’s ‘fourth question’ were 

a proper basis to ask this Court to take ‘review,’ the premises 

asserted by Plaintiff as the basis therefor are simply mistaken, 

relative to the Record, and the established law.  

CONCLUSION 

74. In sum: as shown by the dozens of cases cited in the 

Init.Br. and ReplyBr., the question of the effect (or non-

effect) of an indefinite ‘extension sentence’ is not “novel” 

[cf. Court of Appeals Rule 500.22(b)(4)]; nor does Plaintiff 

point to any feature of this particular case that is somehow of 

“public importance” (id.) relative to the longstanding 

requirement of definiteness.  Plaintiff does not point to any 

conflict amongst the Departments of the Appellate Division in 

this regard (id.). (See, e.g., Init.Br. 41-42 fn. 48, and 

ReplyBr. 11, discussing First Department developments to the 

same effect as the Decision here.)  

75. And Plaintiff’s concession that it is arguing for a 

“third way” – i.e., beyond the ‘two ways’ recognized in In re 

166 Mamaroneck -- is a concession that the Decision does not 

present any “conflict with prior decisions of this Court” (Rule 

500.22(b)(4)). 



76. To the contrary, the character of Plaintiff's 

assertions in how they (i) are repeatedly shifting, (ii) 

contradict the Record, and are self-contradictory is good 

reason to deny further review. 

77. Accordingly, it is respectfully submitted 

Plaintiff's motion should be denied. 

Dated: New York, New York 
October 30, 2020 

Richard Claman 
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EXHIBIT 1 



!FILED~ QUEENS COUNTY CLERK 07/14/2017 04:42 PMJ 
NYSCEF DOC. NO. 294 

INDEX NO. 707612/2015 

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 07/14/2017 

From: JUVENAL RElS <.il!.S'!!Jii!l].¢.:Ll!@!ll!M~I21~ 
Date: February 20,2015 at 16:43:40 EST 
To: "!DJ!l:ltlsrorkR@uol.coo1" '·m:!!llill:l.LGW:J.G!!lQ!&.QI!l? 
Subject: Re: Last meeting 

"Roger-Regarding our meeting on Feb. I 3, while we reconfirmed that the term of the 
Lease has been extended to Reb. 28th, 2030, and that the fixed rent for the year of March 
l'lit;lQ~1i'loFei>£!JiiFi'221h 20.1£ will increase P)' 6%, we. were unable to agree on the l"eJll 
for the following years. I am hopeful we can work this out." 

Regards 
Juvenai Reis 

On Feb 11, 2015.; at 14:20, JUVENALREIS ~u\!erifll!lel§tiMllt!G;c§~ wrote: 

Roger, attached Is the last letter agreement with extension. 
RE!SSTUDJOS 
43~01 22ND ST.REET 
LONG iSLAND 8iTY, NY 11101 
"1:s-1a4-~on 
7·1.8Jt5'7fMl6.63 

The message is tegal)y privilegeil, con'fiG:Iential and 
hitended pnly forth~ us~ of the person to which iUs addresse.d. The re.ader of this 
message is fiereby notified that any copying, dissemination or c;Jistribu!lo.n of'thfs 
document is strictly prohibited. If you recelye this copy in error, please notify us .and 
delete this original message from your system. 

On Feb 11, 2015, at 07:13 AM,tl1l!iUdst<?l'!tki&fuO'l:·oolJ]JWrote: 

I forwarded the paperwork to my attorney, could you send me the most recent copy of the 
extension you are referring to? I need to review it myself. 
Thanks 

-----Original Message-----
From: JUVENAL REIS <J!JYMalrdfS@milSJ.i<2JO> 
To: maddstorkk <n\ackl§tl;Jrkk@?si;:yjlffi> 
Sent: Wed. Feb 11, 2015 9:59am 
Subject: Re: last meeting 

Sorry for the delay in getting back to you on this, but I have been consulting wi\h my lawyers to 
make sure I understand my rights. A 6% increase for February 28, 20i5 through February 28, 
2016 is fine, but J want to remind you thai our general lease extends to February 28, 2030. Our 
agreement dated June 27, 2012 states: "Lease terms to be extended to now terminate on Feb. 
28, 2030; terms to be determined at the expiration of this initial lease consolidation period." 
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[FI:LEE>: QUEENS COUN.TY CLERK 07/14/2017 04:42 PM] 
~YSCEF DOC. NO. 294 

INDEX NO. 707612/2015 

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 07/14/2017 

There Is a sentence in our June 27, 2012 agreement that reads: "Tenant will have the option to 
renew entire lease at expiration of above with written nottficalion to Landlord within 1 year period 
to expiration of present lease." There may be an ambiguity with respect to whether the words 
"at expiration of above" refer to the current extension or the situation that will exist In 2030. I think 
the plain language makes clear that It refers to the sllualion that will exist In 2030, and that was 
certainly my Intent. For the avoidance of doubt, however, this Is written notice that I am 
exercising the option to extend the lease to February 28, 2030. I hope we don't have a problem 
with this because, as you know, I have invested heavily in renovations for the space and building 
a branq to al,tracl a comm.unity of artists. I have al~o subleased space to artists through 201'8. I 
W!:!Uld not ha~e done-all of that if I thought the general lease expired February 29, 2018, as you 
SUei!JfilS!. '1>/e have hi!!d a good relationship for more than 12 years now, and I want to continue to 
'kP.rJ<,t(lg~ther rn;oducllvely under the terms !o Which we h~we agreed. Lei me know within the 
next fe~ d,ays if you feal.dlfferently so that we C,?n avoid the possibility of legal proceedings, (I 
am sending you a copy of this by certified mail.) 

Tnank you. 

Juven~J Rels 
R~ISSiUQIOS 
43-01 22ND STREET 
LONG ISLAND CITY, NY 11101 
118~ 784·5£:i77 
1 

mes.sage Is~ · 'F>nil/ll~ed, <,'fGrlfldentlal aQd 
lntl:iri'dlOCd c:ui]¥ for U11' ~:J:;;a·.~qf'1he P.ersE>n to·; atllllre~Js,e.CI. T.he r.eader;af this 
rnessa;ge Is hereby netlfloo that any eopylng, dissemlnatl~nor disttlbuUon of thhi 
doourtlent is strictly prohibited. If you receive this copy in error, P.lease notify us a1:1d 
delete this original message from your system. 

On Nov 17, 2014, at 08:o1 AM. ma<:!dstorkk@aoj,corp_,wrote: 

Yes this Is correct but based on a single one year renewal at the present tlme. General lease 
extended to exptre Feb. 29,2016. 
As to electric work as discussed, Bobby to Issue a schedule for work in both gallery and 4th floor. 
Since !he panel Is being replaced on 4N, those tenants effected will be out of power for a period 
of time that he will designate so they can know In advance. He will need access to the 2nd floor 
gallery to perform the work there. Please be advised that we are sharing the expense for the 
panel upgrade only. The cost for the electric run to 402 for the additional power requirement is 
not a shared expense with us. 
Roger 

----Orlgi!'\al Message----· 
From: JUVENAL REIS <lb!Menaltfi,!ts®[DSJ(MJQni> 
To: Roger Kallman <~t:liJ~®ltQ).&;.Q.Q.P" 
Sent: Sat, Nov 15, 2014 1 :29 pm 
Subject; Last meeti!'\g 

Hi Roger, 
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[FILED: QUEENS COUNTY CLERK 07/14/2017 04:42 PM) 
NYSCEF DOC. NO. 294 

INDEX NO. 707612/2015 

RECEIVED NYSCEF: 07/14/2017 

I wanted to fcli!QIN up on our last meal!ng regarding my lease 111~!":1 ~djustmeriL(ortha coming 
years. I am .cpnf!rmlng that we have agr:~eSi on If 8o/o rent lnerea~ci s1arilng E!til:irw:li~ 28th 2015. 

Based on our agreement, I am .communtcatlng to my artlsts the new rent Increase for the 2016. 
Please let me know ff this Is correct. 
Thank you 
Juv~nal ~als 
Rl!l!SS'l'UDIOS 
~3-0l 22ND S~iET 
LONG !iSLAND Cl'.IT, NY lllOl 
716•764 •SS?? 
7lS·570·3Gi3 
l~i%Jj§'~!J.l!fttl.l!lfl:,~~' 
'/!fplll:.JlkSS~§J~ 
'<!Lnsl A~ent.pd~ 
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